No. 43097-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Nicholas Higgs,

Appellant.

Skamania County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-00059-0

The Honorable Judge Brian Altman

Appellant's Opening Brief

(Corrected Copy)

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Higgs's motion to suppress.
- 2. The trial court violated Mr. Higgs's right to privacy under Wash. Const. Article I, Section 7 by admitting evidence seized under authority of an overbroad warrant.
- 3. The police violated Mr. Higgs's right to privacy under Wash. Const. Article I, Section 7 by seizing evidence under authority of an overbroad warrant.
- 4. The police violated Mr. Higgs's Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures by seizing evidence discovered pursuant to an overbroad warrant.
- 5. The search warrant was overbroad because it authorized police to search for and seize items for which the affidavit did not establish probable cause.
- 6. The search warrant was overbroad because it failed to describe the things to be seized with sufficient particularity.
- 7. The search warrant unlawfully authorized police to search for and seize items protected by the First Amendment.
- 8. The four corners of the search warrant affidavit did not support issuance of the warrant.
- 9. The evidence was insufficient to prove that Mr. Higgs unlawfully possessed methamphetamine.
- 10. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Higgs possessed a sufficient quantity of methamphetamine to warrant conviction.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A search warrant is overbroad if it authorizes seizure of items for which probable cause does not exist, or if it fails to describe the things to be seized with sufficient particularity. In this case, the search warrant was overbroad for both reasons. Must the evidence derived from execution of the overbroad search warrant be suppressed?

2. To convict Mr. Higgs of Possession of a Controlled Substance, the prosecution was required to prove that he possessed a sufficient quantity of drugs to warrant a felony charge. At trial, the evidence established only that he possessed methamphetamine residue. Did Mr. Higgs's methamphetamine possession conviction violate his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the prosecution failed to prove the essential elements of the charged crime?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Angela Hall alleged that Nicholas Higgs sexually assaulted her. RP 168-245. She also said he smoked methamphetamine in his home while she was there, and that he gave her an Adderall tablet (at her request). RP 200, 211-213. While investigating the sexual assault allegation, police sought a search warrant for Mr. Higgs' home. Attachment to Memorandum of Authorities, Supp. CP.

The search warrant affidavit outlined the officers' training and experience, and included specific information which they'd learned from Angela Hall. She told them that she'd visited Mr. Higgs, and that "Two times during the evening, [he] smoked out of a clear glass drug pipe Hall recognized to be a methamphetamine pipe." Search Warrant Affidavit (attachment to Memorandum of Authorities, Supp. CP).¹ She said he was "smoking a white crystalline substance from the pipe," and went on to say that she

observed Higgs load a light bulb with a crystalline like substance and then proceed to smoke the substance out of the bulb using a lighter to melt or liquefy the crystal substance. The substance looks similar the rock salt. Higgs then smoked the substance from an empty pen shaft numerous times (at least three) each time refilling the bulb using the pen shaft that he slid into a baggy to pick up the crystal and place it into the bulb. The size of the baggie was

¹ A copy of the affidavit is attached. See Appendix.

approximately 1 1/2 inches square. Hall recognized the substance to "likely" be methamphetamine for she used to smoke it. Hall stated she has not used methamphetamine since December 26th 2010. Search Warrant Affidavit (attachment to Memorandum of Authorities, Supp. CP).

The affiant indicated that Hall's description of methamphetamine use (and "the methods of storing" the drug) seemed credible.

The affidavit did not include any allegations that Mr. Higgs was involved in drug dealing, or that he'd ever delivered any controlled substance to anyone (including Hall herself).² See Search Warrant Affidavit (attachment to Memorandum of Authorities, Supp. CP).

The affidavit also included seven separate paragraphs beginning "I know from my training knowledge and experience that persons involved in the distribution [and possession] of controlled substances..." Each paragraph outlined the kind of evidence that might typically be found in a case involving drug distribution. See Search Warrant Affidavit (attachment to Memorandum of Authorities, Supp. CP). None of this information was particular to Mr. Higgs's case.

Although the affidavit's recitation of Hall's account referenced only methamphetamine and paraphernalia, the issuing magistrate granted

 $^{^2}$ Evidence introduced at trial included proof that he`d provided her with Adderall, at her request. RP 211-213.

the officers permission to search for a large number of items not mentioned in her account. These included books, records, address books, computers, electronic storage media, money, photographs, and many other items that could be involved in a drug distribution operation. See Search Warrant Affidavit (attachment to Memorandum of Authorities, Supp. CP).³

While executing the warrant, police found baggies containing methamphetamine residue, and a light bulb, which they believed had been used as a pipe. RP 200.

The state charged Mr. Higgs with Rape in the Second Degree, Rape in the Third Degree, Possession of Methamphetamine, Possession of Amphetamine with Intent to Deliver, Use of Drug Paraphernalia, and Delivery of Amphetamine. CP 10-14. Ultimately, Mr. Higgs was acquitted of the rape charges. RP 111-463, 467-468; Verdict Forms, Supp. CP.

Prior to trial, Mr. Higgs moved to suppress the items found during the search of his residence. Motion to Suppress, Supp. CP; Memorandum in Support, Supp. CP. The motion was denied. RP 33-45.

³ The warrant itself was not filed with the trial court. However, language in the affidavit was cut and pasted into the warrant; thus, the affidavit is cited here. In addition, appellate counsel has filed a copy of the warrant and designated it so that it will be part of the clerk's papers on appeal. See Search Warrant, Supp. CP. A copy of the warrant is attached. See Appendix.

Mr. Higgs testified at trial, denying the rape allegations but acknowledging that he had given Angela Hall an Adderall pill at her request, and that he'd smoked methamphetamine. RP 368-373. He was acquitted of possession with intent to deliver amphetamine (but convicted of the lesser offense of simple possession), and convicted of the remaining drug charges. RP 467-468; Verdict Forms, Supp. CP.

Mr. Higgs timely appealed. CP 31-46.

ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE ADMITTED AT TRIAL WAS UNLAWFULLY SEIZED IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT AND WASH. CONST. ARTICLE I, SECTION 7.

A. Standard of Review

Constitutional violations are reviewed de novo. Bellevue School Dist. v. E.S., 171 Wash.2d 695, 702, 257 P.3d 570 (2011). Whether a search warrant meets the probable cause and particularity requirements is an issue of law reviewed de novo. State v. Garcia-Salgado, 170 Wash.2d 176, 183, 240 P.3d 153 (2010); State v. Reep, 161 Wash.2d 808, 813, 167 P.3d 1156 (2007). Likewise, the legal validity of an arrest warrant is an issue of law, reviewed de novo. State v. Erickson, 168 Wash.2d 41, 45, 225 P.3d 948 (2010). A trial court's findings of fact are reviewed for substantial evidence; conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. State v. Gatewood, 163 Wash.2d 534, 539, 182 P.3d 426 (2008). In the absence of a finding on a factual issue, the appellate court presumes that the party with the burden of proof failed to sustain its burden on the issue. State v. Armenta, 134 Wash.2d 1, 14, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997); State v. Byrd, 110 Wash.App. 259, 265, 39 P.3d 1010 (2002).

B. The state and federal constitutions impose requirements on the issuance of search warrants, and prohibit warrantless searches absent an exception to the warrant requirement.

Under the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution,

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

U.S. Const. Amend. IV.⁴

Similarly, Article I, Section 7 of the Washington State Constitution provides that "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." Wash. Const. Article I, Section 7. It is "axiomatic" that Article I, Section 7 provides stronger protection

⁴ The Fourth Amendment is applicable to the states through the action of the Fourteenth Amendment. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 6 L.Ed.2d 1081 (1961).

to an individual's right to privacy than that guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.⁵ State v. Parker, 139 Wash.2d 486, 493, 987 P.2d 73 (1999).

Under both constitutional provisions, searches and seizures conducted without authority of a search warrant "'are per se unreasonable...subject only to a few specifically established and welldelineated exceptions." Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, ____, 129 S.Ct. 1710, 173 L.Ed.2d 485 (2009) (quoting Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967) (footnote omitted)); see also State v. Eisfeldt, 163 Wash.2d 628, 185 P.3d 580 (2008). Without probable cause and a warrant, an officer is limited in what she or he can do. State v. Setterstrom, 163 Wash.2d 621, 626, 183 P.3d 1075 (2008).

Exceptions to the warrant requirement are narrowly drawn and jealously guarded. State v. Day, 161 Wash.2d 889, 894, 168 P.3d 1265 (2007). The state bears a heavy burden to show the search falls within one of these narrowly drawn exceptions. State v. Garvin, 166 Wash.2d 242, 250, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009). The state must establish the exception to the warrant requirement by clear and convincing evidence. Id.

⁵ Accordingly, the six-part Gunwall analysis used to interpret state constitutional provisions is not necessary for issues relating to Article I, Section 7. State v. White, 135 Wash.2d 761, 769, 958 P.2d 962 (1998); State v. Gunwall, 106 Wash.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986).

C. The search of Mr. Higgs's residence was conducted pursuant to an overbroad search warrant.

Under the Fourth Amendment and Wash. Const. Article I, Section 7, search warrants must be based on probable cause. State v. Young, 123 Wash.2d 173, 195, 867 P.2d 593 (1994). An affidavit in support of a search warrant "must state the underlying facts and circumstances on which it is based in order to facilitate a detached and independent evaluation of the evidence by the issuing magistrate." State v. Thein, 138 Wash.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). The facts outlined in the affidavit must establish a reasonable inference that evidence of a crime will be found at the place to be searched; that is, there must be a nexus between the item to be seized and the place to be searched. Young, at 195; Thein, at 140. Generalizations cannot provide the individualized suspicion required under the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 7 of the Washington Constitution. Thein, at 147-148. Under Thein,

> [P]robable cause be based on more than conclusory predictions. Blanket inferences... substitute generalities for the required showing of reasonably specific 'underlying circumstances.'

Id; see also State v. Nordlund, 113 Wash.App. 171, 182-184, 53 P.3d 520 (2002) ("Nor is the [warrant] salvageable by the affidavit's generalized statements about the habits of sex offenders... These general statements, alone, are insufficient to establish probable cause.")

A search warrant must also describe the items to be seized with sufficient particularity to limit the executing officers' discretion to those items for which probable cause exist, and to inform the person whose property is being searched what items may be seized. State v. Riley, 121 Wash.2d 22, 27-29, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993).

The particularity and probable cause requirements are inextricably interwoven. State v. Perrone, 119 Wash.2d 538, 545, 834 P.2d 611 (1992). A warrant may be overbroad either because it authorizes seizure of items for which probable cause does not exist, or because it fails to describe the things to be seized with sufficient particularity.⁶ State v. Maddox, 116 Wash.App. 796, 805, 67 P.3d 1135 (2003) (citing, inter alia, Perrone, supra, and Riley, supra).

A warrant authorizing seizure of materials protected by the First Amendment requires close scrutiny to ensure compliance with the particularity and probable cause requirements. Zurcher v. Stanford Daily, 436 U.S. 547, 564, 98 S.Ct. 1970, 56 L.Ed.2d 525 (1978); Stanford v. Texas, 379 U.S. 476, 485, 85 S.Ct. 506, 13 L.Ed.2d 431 (1965)); Perrone

⁶ One aim of the particularity requirement is to prevent the issuance of warrants based on loose, vague or doubtful bases of fact. Perrone, at 545. The requirement also prevents law enforcement officials from engaging in a "general, exploratory rummaging in a person's belongings..." Perrone, at 545 (citations omitted). Conformity with the rule "eliminates the danger of unlimited discretion in the executing officer's determination of what to seize." Perrone, at 546.

at 547. In keeping with this principle, the particularity requirement "is to be accorded the most scrupulous exactitude" when the materials to be seized are protected by the First Amendment. Stanford, at 485.

In this case, the affidavit lacked probable cause for the majority of items listed in the warrant, including many items protected by the First Amendment. Specifically, nothing in the Angie Hall's account (as outlined in the affidavit) established probable cause to believe that Mr. Higgs was involved in drug dealing, or to believe that any of the following items would be found in the home:

- 1. ...[I]tems used to facilitate the distribution and packaging of Methamphetamine;
- 2. Records relating to the transportation, ordering, manufacturing, possession, sale, transfer and/or importation of controlled substances in particular, Methamphetamine, including but not limited to books, notebooks, ledgers, check book ledgers, handwritten notes, journals, calendars, receipts, electronic recording media, and the like;
- 3. Records showing the identity of co-conspirators in this distribution operation, including but not limited to address and/or phone books, telephone bills, Rolodex indices, notebooks, ledgers, check book ledgers, handwritten notes, journals, calendars, receipts, electronic recording media, an the like;
- 4. Records which will indicate profits and/or proceeds of the illegal distribution operation of Methamphetamine, to include, but not limited to books, notebooks, ledgers, check book ledgers, handwritten notes, journals, calendars, receipts, electronic recording media, and the like;

- 5. Books, records, invoices, receipts, records of real estate transactions, purchase, lease or rental agreements, utility and telephone bills, records reflecting ownership of motor vehicles, keys to vehicles, bank statements and related records, passbooks, money drafts, letters of credit, money orders, bank drafts, pay stubs, tax statements, cashiers checks, bank checks, safe deposit box keys, money wrappers, and other items evidencing the obtaining, secreting, transfer, concealment, and/or expenditure of money and/or dominion and control over assets and proceeds;
- 6. Photographs, including still photos, negatives, video tapes, films, undeveloped film and the contents therein, and slides, in particular, photographs of co-conspirators, of assets, and controlled substances, in particular Methamphetamine.
- Currency, precious metals, jewelry, and financial instruments, including stocks and bonds for the purpose of tracking proceeds and/or profits;
- 8. Address and/or telephone books, telephone bills, Rolodex indices and papers reflecting names, addresses, telephone numbers, pager numbers, fax numbers and/or telex number of sources of supply, customers, financial institution, and other individual or businesses with whom a financial relationship exists;
- 9. Correspondence, papers, records, and any other items showing employment or lack of employment of defendant or reflecting income or expenses, including but not limited to items listed in paragraph 5, financial statements, credit card records, receipts, and income tax returns;
- 10. Paraphernalia for packaging, weighing and distributing Methamphetamine, including but not limited to scales, baggies, and other items used in the distribution operation, including firearms;

- 11. Electronic equipment, such as computers, telex machines, facsimile machines, currency counting machines, telephone answering machines, and related manuals used to generate, transfer, count, record and/or store the information described above. Additionally, computer software, tape and discs, audio tapes, electronic recording media, and the contents therein, containing the information generated by the aforementioned electronic equipment; and communications devices, including pagers and mobile telephones,
- 12. ... [T]o develop any undeveloped film located at the residence.

Search Warrant Affidavit (attachment to Memorandum of Authorities, Supp. CP)

Other than "conclusory predictions," "blanket inferences," and generalizations of the type disapproved in Thein, the affidavit contained no suggestion that any of these items existed, that they were located in the residence, or that they related in any way to any criminal activity.⁷ Thein, at 147-148. Because the affidavit relied entirely on the officer's general knowledge for these items, and because it contained no particularized information relating to Mr. Higgs with respect to these items, it was overbroad. Perrone, supra; Maddox, supra.

The search warrant also failed the particularity requirement, because many of these items were protected by the First Amendment, and yet the warrant did not describe them materials with "the most scrupulous

⁷ Even if the officers had some evidence of manufacture, sales, or delivery, nothing in the affidavit established that the listed items existed or would be found in the residence.

exactitude." Stanford, at 485. The warrant authorized police officers to rummage through a broad range of books, papers, computer files, etc. No limitations were imposed on this authority.

The search warrant in this case was overbroad because it authorized seizure of items for which probable cause did not exist, and because it failed to describe the items to be seized with sufficient particularity. The use of broad generic categories (such as "books," "photographs," "computers," etc.) transformed the warrant into an illegal general warrant, authorizing police to rummage through Mr. Higgs's property, and to seize any materials that fell within these categories, without any restrictions whatsoever. Because the warrant was overbroad, the evidence must be suppressed, the conviction reversed, and the case dismissed with prejudice. Perrone, supra.

II. MR. HIGGS WAS DENIED HIS SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

A. Standard of Review

An ineffective assistance claim presents a mixed question of law and fact, requiring de novo review. State v. A.N.J., 168 Wash.2d 91, 109, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). B. An accused person is constitutionally entitled to the effective assistance of counsel.

The Sixth Amendment provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." U.S. Const. Amend. VI. This provision is applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 342, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963). Likewise, Article I, Section 22 of the Washington Constitution provides, "In criminal prosecutions, the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel...." Wash. Const. Article I, Section 22. The right to counsel is "one of the most fundamental and cherished rights guaranteed by the Constitution." United States v. Salemo, 61 F.3d 214, 221-222 (3rd Cir., 1995).

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