COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

NICHOLAS HIGGS,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR SKAMANIA COUNTY

THE HONORABLE BRIAN ALTMAN

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ADAM NATHANIEL KICK Skamania County Prosecuting Attorney

YARDEN F. WEIDENFELD Chief Criminal Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

> Skamania County Prosecuting Attorney P.O Box 790 240 N.W. Vancouver Ave. Stevenson, Washington 98648

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

There are two necessary probable cause determinations when analyzing a search warrant:

probable cause that the defendant is involved in criminal activity and [probable cause] that evidence of the criminal activity will be found in the place to be searched.

State v. Neth, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008). "Probable cause for a search requires a nexus between criminal activity and the item to be seized and between that item and the place to be searched." Id. at 183.

Under United States Supreme Court standards, the determination of the "historical facts' in the case, i.e., the events 'leading up to the stop or search," is given "'due weight' on appellate review," while the determination of "whether these historical facts amount to probable cause . . . is subject to de novo appellate review." Detention of Petersen v. State, 145 Wn.2d 789, 799-800, 42 P.3d 952 (2002), superceded by statute on other grounds as stated in In re Detention of Jones, 149 Wn. App. 16, 28, 201 P.3d 1066 (2009) (quoting Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690, 695, 116 S.Ct. 1657, 134 L.Ed.2d 911 (1996)).

The warrant must "describe with particularity the things to be seized," State v. Riley, 121 Wn.2d 22, 28, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993). This "particularity" requirement is "closely intertwined with" the question of probable cause. State v. Perrone, 119 Wn.2d 538, 545, 834 P.2d 611 (1992). It is also reviewed de novo and "in a common sense, practical manner, rather than in a hypertechnical sense," Id. at 549.

"The degree of particularity required will depend on the nature of the materials sought and the circumstances of each case." Id. at 547.

[W]here most search warrants are concerned, a description is valid if it is as specific as the circumstances and the nature of the activity under investigation permits. [citations omitted] Accordingly, the use of a generic term or a general description is not per se a violation of the particularity requirement. [citation omitted] Rather, where the precise identity of goods cannot be determined when the warrant is issued, a generic or general description may be sufficient, if probable cause is shown and a more specific description is impossible. [citations omitted] Conversely, courts have reasoned that the use of a generic term or general description is constitutionally acceptable only when a more particular description of the items to be seized is not available at the time the warrant issues. [citations omitted]

ld.

A not overbroad *execution* of an overbroad search warrant does not cure its over-breadth "[b]ecause the person whose home is searched has the right to know what items may be seized," Riley, 121 Wn.2d at 29. This is one of the purposes of a warrant. Id. However,

[u]nder the severability doctrine, "infirmity of part of a warrant requires suppression of evidence seized pursuant to that part of the warrant" but does not require suppression of anything seized pursuant to valid parts of the warrant.

Perrone, 119 Wn.2d at 556 (quoting United States v. Fitzgerald, 724 F.2d 633, 637 (8th Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 466 U.S. 950, 104 S.Ct . 2151, 80 L.Ed.2d 538 (1984).

The severability doctrine applies "only when at least five requirements are met," <u>State v. Maddox</u>, 116 Wn. App. 796, 807, 67 P.3d 1135 (2003), as follows:

First, the warrant must lawfully have authorized entry into the premises. . . .

Second, the warrant must include one or more particularly described items for which there is probable cause. . . .

Third, the part of the warrant that includes particularly described items supported by probable cause must be significant when compared to the warrant as a whole. If most of the warrant purports to authorize a search for items not supported by probable cause or not described with particularity, the warrant is likely to be "general" in the sense of authorizing "a general, exploratory rummaging in a person's belongings[,]" and no part of it will be saved by severance or redaction.

Fourth, the searching officers must have found and seized the disputed items while executing the valid part of the warrant (i.e., while searching for items supported by probable cause and described with particularity). . . .

Fifth, the officers must not have conducted a general search, i.e. a search in which they "flagrantly disregarded" the warrant's scope. . . .

Id. at 807-808, quoting Andresen v. Maryland, 427 U.S. 463, 479,96 S. Ct. 2737, 49 L.Ed.2d 627 (1976).

In this case, there is no dispute that the search warrant described with particularity and probable cause "(1) Methamphetamine," CP 73 and "(12) Photographs of the crime scene and to develop any photographs of the crime scene, including still photos and video cassette recordings . . .," CP 75.

Brief of Appellant at 11-13.

In addition, there was probable cause and particularity with respect to "items used to facilitate the distribution and packaging of Methamphetamine," CP 73. Probable cause is supplied by the affidavit, which states that Hall saw the appellant smoke the alleged methamphetamine out of a "clear glass drug pipe" that he loaded from a small baggy, CP 62. The affidavit also states from Det. Wyckoff's "training, knowledge and experience"

that persons involved in the distribution of controlled substances almost always use packaging material including plastic baggies to hold the controlled substances, repackage it in smaller quantities utilizing scales to sell to individual users and these packaging materials will be found at the same location as the controlled substances.

CP 63. Since the specific packaging could not be known before the search, the particularity requirement is met.

Secondly, there was probable cause and particularity with respect to

[b]ooks, records, invoices, receipts, records of real estate transactions, purchase, lease or rental agreements, utility and telephone bills, records reflecting ownership of motor vehicles, keys to vehicles, bank statements and related records, passbooks, money drafts, letters of credit, money orders, bank drafts, pay stubs, tax statements, cashiers checks, bank checks, safe deposit keys, money wrappers, and other items evidencing the obtaining, secreting, transfer, concealment, and/or expenditure of money and/or dominion and control over assets and proceeds.

CP 74. Probable cause is based upon Det. Wyckoff's sworn affidavit where he stated, based on his "training, knowledge and experience"

that most people involved in the distribution and possession of controlled substances possess items of identification (including but not limited to driver's licenses, rent receipts, bills, and address books).

CP 63 (emphasis added). He also attested

that these items are relevant to the identity of the possessor of the controlled substances, possessor of other items seized, and occupants of the premises searched.

<u>ld.</u>

Such "dominion and control" language is common in search warrants. In <u>State v. Weaver</u>, a search warrant authorized a search for

"[h]eroin and other controlled substances, narcotics paraphernalia, items used in the preparation of controlled substances and papers showing dominion and control over the premises,"

38 Wn. App. 17, 18, 683 P.2d 1136 (1984). While other challenges were made (and denied), <u>Id.</u> at 19-22, this language was not challenged for over-breadth.

In <u>United States v. Honore</u>, the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit approved of the following language in a search warrant:

"and articles personal property tending to establish the identify [sic] of the persons in control of the premises, storage areas or containers where the above-listed property are located, consisting in part of and including but not limited to utility company receipts, rent receipts, cancelled mail envelopes, and keys."

450 F.2d 31, 33 (9th Cir. 1971), <u>cert. denied</u>, 404 U.S. 1048, 92 S. Ct. 728, 30 L.Ed.2d 740 (1972). The court went on to hold that "[t]he words therein 'tending to establish the identity of the persons in control of the premises' sufficiently identify and limit the items to be seized." Id.

The remaining clauses of the search warrant can be severed from the warrant under the five requirements set out in Maddox, supra. There is apparently no dispute that the first two requirements are met (entry into premises lawfully allowed and at least one item described with probable cause and particularity).

With respect to the third requirement (items described with probable cause and particularity being a significant portion of the warrant), while these items may not constitute a majority of the *text* of the warrant, they do constitute a majority if not all of the *action* authorized by the warrant. This is because "[o]fficers executing a warrant for marijuana are authorized to inspect virtually every aspect of the premises," <u>State v. Chambers</u>, 88 Wn. App. 640, 645, 945 P.2d 1172 (1997).

The same logic applies to any other controlled substance.

Thus, "the risk of an invasion of constitutionally protected privacy is minimal when there is probable cause for a controlled substance,"

Id. In such cases, it is questionable whether over-breadth is even possible. See State v. Olson:

. . . [T]here was no reasonable likelihood that a violation of the defendant's rights would occur. The presence of marijuana in a private residence raises a legitimate inference that marijuana may be present throughout the residence. [citations omitted]

Therefore, as a practical matter, the language used in the warrant in the present case could not have expanded the scope of a search for marijuana because, in searching for marijuana, the officers were authorized to inspect virtually every aspect of the premises.

32 Wn. App. 555, 558-559, 648 P.2d 476 (1982).

The fourth requirement (disputed items found while executing valid parts of the warrant) is met, since the items introduced at trial all either contained controlled substances or were evidence of dominion and control.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals cited a commentator with favor on this fourth requirement as follows:

"If the items [that the defendant now seeks to suppress] were discovered Before those to which the warrant was properly addressed were found and while the police were looking in places where the latter objects could be located, then it may be said that the discovery occurred while executing the lawful portion of the warrant. Were the circumstances otherwise, then it must be concluded that these other items were found during execution of the invalid part of the warrant."

Maddox, 116 Wn. App. at 808, quoting 2 W. LAFAVE, SEARCH AND SEIZURE § 4.6(f) at 582 (3d ed. 1996). Certainly, all the places where the items were found were places where methamphetamine (undisputedly valid part of warrant) could have been found.

The fifth requirement (no general search conducted) is easily met when considering that the items at issue were all either controlled substances or evidence of dominion and control. In Maddox, the Court of Appeals noted that the police in Perrone "seem to have conducted a general search, for they seized many items not related to any crime," Maddox, 116 Wn. App. at 809. There is no evidence of such here.

The appellant incorrectly analogizes the current case to Perrone, arguing that many of the items in the search warrant "were protected by the First Amendment" and thus requires a heightened particularity, Brief of Appellant at 13-14. However, this provision only applies when the items to be seized "are books, and the basis for their seizure is the ideas which they contain . . .," Perrone, 119 Wn.2d at 548, quoting Stanford v. Texas, 379 U.S. 476, 485, 85 S. Ct. 506, 13 L.Ed.2d 431 (1965) (emphasis added). The items at issue in the current case are mostly in the category of records and ledgers, to which the heightened particularity requirement does not apply. United States v. Espinoza, 641 F.2d 153, 164-165 (4th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 841, 102 S.Ct. 153, 70 L.Ed.2d 125 (1981)(cited with approval in Perrone, 119 Wn.2d at 548.)

The more appropriate analogy can be found in <u>Maddox</u>, a case involving probable cause that Maddox's home contained evidence of methamphetamine *dealing*, 116 Wn. App. at 804. The search warrant there contained almost identical language to the one in the current case, <u>Id.</u> at 800 (footnote 4). It does *not* contain a paragraph similar to paragraph (11) in the current case, but other paragraphs are almost (though not exactly) identical. <u>Id.</u>

The Court of Appeals did find that the warrant was overbroad, since it

authorized the police to search for many items for which there was no probable cause whatever: books and records showing "the identity of co-conspirators"; photographs of co-conspirators, assets, and drugs; and other books and records not associated with methamphetamine distribution.

Id. at 806. Specifically, the Court found that paragraphs (5), (6), (8), and (9) were not supported by probable cause because they "were not limited to items associated with methamphetamine. Id. (footnote 25).¹ It is also apparent from the text of the opinion that the Court rejected paragraph (3). Id.

¹ The State is arguing in the current case that paragraph (5) is valid. It is unclear whether the "dominion and control" argument was made in <u>Maddox</u> nor whether the affidavit in that case provided a basis for such an argument. The affidavit did state that "public or law enforcement records showed that Maddox owned the house in question, [and] that Maddox was the registered owner of a car parked in

Nevertheless, the Court held "that the warrant's overbreadth did not require suppression of the items admitted at trial," <u>Id.</u> at 810 because it met all five requirements for severability, <u>Id.</u> at 809:

It [i.e., the search warrant] was valid to the extent it authorized a search for drugs, evidence of drug dealing, and books and records related to drug dealing. Although it was invalid to the extent it included books and records not related to crime, the defect went to "the permissible intensity and duration of the search" [footnoted omitted] as opposed to the "intrusion per se[.]" [footnote omitted] Its grant of authority to search for methamphetamine, paraphernalia related to methamphetamine dealing, and books and records related to methamphetamine dealing was significant when compared to its whole, and its grant of authority to look for books and records not related to drug dealing was insignificant when compared to its whole. As far as we can tell from the record, the police found each item that they seized while they were looking for methamphetamine. paraphernalia related to methamphetamine dealing, and books and records related to methamphetamine dealing. The police actually seized marijuana, ecstasy, scales, and cash that included the bills with which the informant had paid Maddox less than 24 hours earlier. Although the police also seized "miscellaneous papers" from a bedroom, such papers were not offered or argued at the suppression hearing, were not used by anyone at trial, and are not of record on appeal; at a minimum, then, they seem to have been insignificant under the circumstances.

Id at 809-810, quoting 2 W. LAFAVE, supra n. 21, § 4.6(f), at 582 and Andresen, 427 U.S. at 480.

the driveway of the house," <u>Id.</u> at 799, possibly obviating the need for items showing dominion and control.

While the search warrant in the current case arguably contains more paragraphs that are overbroad (since the current case involves methamphetamine *possession*, not dealing), the same principal applies. The extraneous paragraphs can be severed from the warrant, leaving a warrant that was lawfully executed. As explained above, all five requirements from Maddox were met.

2. EVEN IF THE ITEMS SEIZED PURSUANT TO THE SEARCH WARRANT IN THIS CASE SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED, THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO DO SO WAS HARMLESS ERROR BECAUSE OTHER EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE JURY VERDICT BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT

Even "constitutional errors . . . may be so insignificant as to be harmless," State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), cert. denied, Guloy v. Washington, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S. Ct. 1208, 89 L.Ed.2d 321 (1986).

A constitutional error is harmless if the appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the error. Constitutional error is presumed to be prejudicial and the State bears the burden of proving that the error was harmless.

ld.

In deciding whether Constitutional error is harmless, the Washington Supreme Court has rejected the "contribution' test,"

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